The State of South Carolina
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from York County
Court of Common Pleas

Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000649
Case No. 2013-CP-46-00368

Estate of Steven R. Stewart,.....Respondent

v.

Scapa Waycross, Inc.,.....Defendant/Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

William P. Early (SC Bar No. 15657)
PIERCE SLOAN KENNEDY & EARLY LLC
The Blake-Grimké House
321 East Bay Street
Post Office Box 22437
Charleston, South Carolina 29413
PH: (843) 722-7733
Fax: (843) 722-7732
E-Mail: willearly@piercesloan.com

RECEIVED
FEB 25 2020
SC Court of Appeals

**The State of South Carolina
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from York County

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for judgment n.o.v. because the plaintiff failed to introduce any legally sufficient evidence of specific causation.
2. The trial court abused its discretion in granting additur because the jury's damage awards were not actuated by passion, caprice, or prejudice and the trial court failed to pay substantial deference to the jury's awards.
3. The trial court abused its discretion in accepting the plaintiff's proposed allocation of settlement proceeds.
4. The trial court abused its discretion in excluding evidence of Plaintiff's claims for compensation from bankrupt entities.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Steven Redfearn Stewart initiated this asbestos products liability matter by a Complaint filed in February 2013 against a number of defendants. (Complaint, Record on Appeal ("R"), pp. 30-56). Stewart filed an Amended Complaint in May 2013 adding Defendant-Appellant Scapa Waycross, Inc. (Amended Complaint, R. pp. 57-71).

Stewart died in August 2013. (Suggestion of Party's Death, R. pp. 72-75). Stephen R. Edwards, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Steven Redfearn Stewart, filed a Motion to Substitute Party and Motion to File a Second Amended Complaint. This was granted, (Order, R. pp. 1-5), and Stewart filed a Second Amended Complaint in November 2013. (Second Amended Complaint, R. pp. 76-92). Scapa filed an Answer to the Second Amended Complaint. (Scapa Answer, R. pp. 93-102).

Stewart settled with all other defendants before trial. Trial was conducted from January 29, 2018 to February 2, 2018 and then continued from February 7, 2018 to February 9, 2018 against Scapa alone. (Trial Transcripts, R. pp. 408-1646).

The jury returned a verdict in favor of Stewart on his negligence claim, but found for Scapa on Stewart's strict liability and implied warranty claims. (Verdict Form, R. pp. 26-29). The jury awarded actual damages of \$600,000 for Stewart's survival claim and \$100,000 for Stewart's wrongful death claim for total damages of \$700,000. (*Id.*) The jury did not find that Scapa's conduct was willful, wanton or reckless. (*Id.*)

Following the verdict, Scapa filed a Motion for Setoff, (R. pp. 141-145), a Motion for Production of Plaintiff's Settlements and Payments with all Third Party Tortfeasors, (R. pp. 164-170), and a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict on liability issues, but did not ask for a new trial. (R. pp. 171-174).

Stewart filed a Motion for a New Trial *Nisi Additur*, (R. pp. 175-183), arguing that the verdict should be raised to \$2,630,000 for Stewart's survival claim and \$600,000 for Stewart's wrongful death claim, for a total verdict of \$3,230,000, more than six times the jury's verdict. Scapa filed its Brief in Support of Motion for JNOV. (R. pp. 184-193). Scapa also filed a response to Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial *Nisi Additur*. (R. pp. 194-198).

The Circuit Court held a hearing on the parties' post-trial motions and heard arguments on Stewart's Motion for New Trial *Nisi Additur* and granted it, adding \$400,000 to the jury's survival award of \$600,000 to bring the total survival award to \$1,000,000. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, p. 25, l. 7 – p. 27, l. 1, R. pp.1671-1673). The Circuit Court did not alter the wrongful death damages awarded by the jury. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, p. 24, l. 22 – p. 25, l. 6, R. pp. 1670-1671).

The Circuit Court also heard argument on Scapa's Motion for Production of Plaintiff's Settlements and Payments with all Third Party Tortfeasors or, in the alternative, Scapa asked that the Court review the settlements *in camera*. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, p. 27, l. 2 – p. 29, l. 12, R. pp. 1673-1675). Scapa's counsel acknowledged that Stewart had produced the settlement numbers just before the hearing, but not the settlement documents. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, p. 32, l. 11–25, R. p. 1678).

The disclosure revealed that Stewart had received or would receive \$1,036,000 in prior settlements, and that Stewart had uniformly allocated the previous settlement amounts by putting 80% on the wrongful death claim and 20% on the survival claim. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, p. 32, l. 11–25, R. p. 1678; p. 36, l. 21 – p. 37, l. 16, R. p. 1682-1683). Due to that recent disclosure, counsel for Scapa asked for time to move to reallocate those settlements, which the Circuit Court granted. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, p. 33, l. 1-6, R. p. 1679; p. 35, l. 9-11, R. p. 1681).

Scapa filed a Motion to Reallocate Settlement Proceeds and a Brief in Support of same. (R. pp. 199-204). The Court held a hearing on Scapa's Motion to Reallocate Settlement Proceeds. (10/10/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, R. pp. 1687-1708).

On March 25, 2019, the Court issued its Order on Post-Trial Motions, granting Stewart's Motion for New Trial *Nisi Additur*, denying Scapa's Motion for JNOV, denying Scapa's Motion for Production of Plaintiff's Settlements and Payments with all Third-Party Tortfeasors, granting Scapa's Motion for Setoff, and denying Scapa's Motion to Reallocate Settlement Proceeds. (Order Re: Post-Trial Motions, R. pp. 6-25).

Scapa timely appealed. (Notice of Appeal, R. pp. 210-232).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Stewart was employed at the Bowater Paper Mill in Catawba, South Carolina from 1963 to 2002. (2/28/13 Stewart Depo., p. 25, l. 1-7, R. p. 2102).¹ He was originally hired as a utility man performing clean up on Paper Machine 1. (2/28/13 Stewart Depo., p. 25, l. 24 – p. 27, l. 16, R. p. 2102-2104). He was promoted to several different positions at Bowater, but Mr. Stewart testified that he worked his entire career on Paper Machine Number 1. (2/28/13 Stewart Depo., p. 27, l. 23 – p. 30, l. 20, R. pp. 2104-2107).

The paper machines at Bowater used dryer felts to keep the paper against the dryer drums, which dried the paper, and the felts would also

¹ Mr. Stewart's discovery deposition taken on February 28, 2013 was read into the record at trial on February 2, 2018. (1 Tr. 570-571, R. pp. 977-978).

absorb moisture from the paper sheets. (1 Tr. 269-270, R. pp. 676-677; 2 Tr. 84-85, R. pp. 1236-1237). Bowater purchased dryer felts from Scapa from 1963 until around 1981. (See Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 56, R. pp. 2095-2096 (showing the first purchase of Scapa felt in 1963, installed in 1964)). During Mr. Stewart's career, Bowater used 288 dryer felts on Paper Machine 1, but only 3.8% of those dryer felts were Scapa asbestos-containing dryer felts. (2 Tr. 92-93, R. pp. 1244-1245).

Mr. Stewart did not know which dryer felts contained asbestos and could not tell from looking at the dryer felts. (2/28/13 Stewart Depo. p. 168, l. 20 – p. 169, l. 7, R. pp. 2114-2115; p. 169, l. 21 – p. 170, l. 2, R. pp. 2115-2116; p. 171, l. 16-23, R. p. 2117; p. 179, l. 9-18, R. p. 2118; p. 181, l. 5-10, R. p. 2119). Similarly, Mr. Stewart's co-workers were unable to identify asbestos-containing Scapa dryer felts that Stewart worked with. (7/17/13 George Hegler Depo., p. 68, l. 20 – p. 69, l. 18, R. pp. 2205-2206;² 1 Tr. 337-38, R. pp. 744-745 (testimony of co-worker Fred Steele)).

Because there were no fact witnesses tying Mr. Stewart to exposure to asbestos-containing Scapa dryer felts, Plaintiff relied on so-called "Mastercards," which Scapa maintained to track the manufacture, sale, shipment, and use of Scapa dryer felts at Bowater, to demonstrate theoretical exposure to the Scapa felts. (1 Tr. 661-662, R. pp. 1068-1069). According to the Mastercards introduced at trial, Bowater started receiving dryer felts

² Mr. Hegler's deposition testimony was read into the record. (1 Tr. 158, R. p. 565).

from Scapa in 1964. (See Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 56, R. pp. 2095-2096). However, the Mastercards also show that Scapa did not send any asbestos-containing dryer felts to Bowater until 1969. (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibits No. 26, R. pp. 2051-2052 (earliest Mastercard referencing asbestos)).

Before 1968 and the introduction of asbestos-containing Scapa dryer felts, Mr. Stewart had worked as a utility man, a fifth hand, and a fourth hand. In 1968, Mr. Stewart was promoted from fourth hand to third hand. (1 Tr. 262, 267, R. pp. 669, 647 (Co-Worker Fred Steele testified that he started working with Mr. Stewart in 1968 at which time Mr. Stewart was a third hand)). After 1968, Mr. Stewart only worked as a third hand, a backtender, and a machine tender. (2/28/13 Stewart Depo., p. 30, l. 5-16, R. p. 2107).

Significantly, those more senior positions did not involve cutting the dryer felt or cleaning the paper machine by blowing out the dryer. (1 Tr. 278, R. p. 685; 2/28/13 Stewart Depo. p. 59, l. 14 - p. 62, l. 18, R. pp. 2109-2112). The third hand's primary job was to watch the paper machine and supervise other workers. (1 Tr. 266, 334, R. p. 673, 741; 2/28/13 Stewart Depo., p. 59, l. 1-10, R. p. 2109). In fact, Mr. Stewart admitted that a machine tender did not have regular contact with dryer felts in any capacity. (3/4/13 Stewart Depo., p. 54, l. 13-20, R. p. 2173). Rather, it was primarily up to the utility man and fifth hand to clean out the machine. (1 Tr. 278, R. p. 685). Fifth

hands and fourth hands were primarily involved in cutting the dryer felt. (1 Tr. 289, R. p. 696).

Mr. Stewart's transition from fourth hand to third hand in 1968 is important because Plaintiff's own experts recognized that the dryer felt would not release any fibers unless it was being cut or otherwise manipulated by the worker. (Testimony of Plaintiff's expert Christopher DePasquale, 1 Tr. 470-471, R. pp. 877-878). Thus, by the time that Scapa was shipping asbestos-containing dryer felt to Bowater in 1969, Mr. Stewart's positions no longer directly involved cutting or manipulating the dryer felts. As such, Mr. Stewart was never exposed to fibers from an asbestos-containing Scapa dryer felt.

Mr. Stewart was diagnosed with malignant pleural mesothelioma on October 24, 2012. (1 Tr. 168, R. p. 575). He incurred \$241,822.70 in medical costs associated with that diagnosis. (*Id.*)

ARGUMENT

Introduction

The trial and post-trial proceedings in this case were palpably unfair to Scapa. During trial, the lower court permitted the Plaintiff's experts—over Scapa's objections—to base their specific-causation opinions on a theory that has been widely condemned, by courts around the nation, as utter junk science. The court also excluded relevant, admissible evidence of Plaintiff's claims for compensation from bankrupt entities that he insisted were re-

sponsible for exposing Mr. Stewart to asbestos and causing his disease. Excluding this evidence was extremely harmful to Scapa's defense that if Stewart was exposed to any asbestos from its dryer felts, the exposure was *de minimus* and incapable of causing his disease.

This Court has admonished that compelling reasons must be given to justify invading the jury's province by granting a new trial to adjust damages. Yet following trial, the court, acting as a thirteenth juror, decided the jury had not awarded enough money. Without any compelling reason to do so, the court took the extraordinary step of increasing the already-sizeable award of \$600,000 in survival damages to \$1,000,000.

Compounding her error in unjustifiably invading the province of the jury to grant additur, the court then deprived Scapa of its right to a just and fair reduction in the amount of its liability based on Plaintiff's pre-trial settlements. The court did so by rejecting Scapa's request for a reallocation of settlement proceeds. Despite the survival damages representing 90% of the recovery, Plaintiff allocated only 20% of the settlement proceeds to the survival claim. The trial court was fine with this allocation of 80% of the settlement proceeds to the wrongful death claim even though, on the one hand, it found no reason to increase the jury's award of \$100,000 for the wrongful death damages, while on the other hand, it concluded that the evidence warranted a 67% increase in the amount of survival damages.

For the reasons set forth below, this Court should reverse the trial court's judgment.

1. The trial court erred in denying Scapa's motion for J.N.O.V.

The trial court should have granted Scapa's motion for judgment n.o.v. because Plaintiff failed to prove causation in compliance with South Carolina law. On a motion for judgment n.o.v., the trial court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-movant. *RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*, 399 S.C. 322, 331-32, 732 S.E.2d 166, 171 (2012). If, however, no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict, the court must grant a motion for judgment n.o.v. *Gastineau v. Murphy*, 331 S.C. 565, 568, 503 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1998). On appeal, this Court applies the same standard. *RFT Mgmt. Co.*, 399 S.C. at 331-32, 732 S.E.2d at 171.

A. "Cumulative exposure" testimony does not establish specific causation under South Carolina law.

A plaintiff seeking damages for injuries caused by asbestos exposure must prove he had "actionable exposure" to the specific defendant's product that was a substantial cause of the injuries. *See Henderson v. Allied Signal*, 373 S.C. 179, 185, 644 S.E.2d 724, 727 (2007). To prove actionable exposure, a plaintiff must meet the "frequency, regularity, and proximity" standard (the "*Henderson/Lohrmann* standard") articulated in *Lohrmann v. Pittsburgh Corning Corp.*, 782 F.2d 1156, 1162 (4th Cir. 1986). *Henderson*, 373 S.C. at 185, 644 S.E.2d at 727; *see also Pace v. Air & Liquid Sys. Corp.*, 642 Fed. App'x 244 (4th Cir. 2016) (claimant must prove that he or she was (i) exposed with frequency, regularity, and proximity to

(ii) asbestos-containing products (iii) that were placed into the stream of commerce by defendant).

Where medical causation is at issue and is not within common knowledge—such as the relationship between a particular asbestos exposure and mesothelioma—a plaintiff must prove both general and specific causation through expert testimony. *See Fisher v. Pelstring*, 817 F. Supp. 2d 791, 814 (D.S.C. 2011). “General causation is whether a substance is capable of causing a particular injury or condition in the general population, while specific causation is whether a substance caused a particular individual’s injury.” *Id.*

Furthermore, if an expert’s testimony is scientific in nature, then the trial court must determine its reliability under the factors set forth in *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 19, 515 S.E.2d 508,517 (1999). *Graves v. CAS Med. Sys.*, 401 S.C. 63, 79, 735 S.E.2d 650, 658 (2012). To determine reliability, the court must look to the following factors: (i) the publications and peer review of the technique; (ii) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (iii) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (iv) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. *Id.*; *Council*, 335 S.C. at 19, 515 S.E.2d at 517.

In a toxic tort case, since “the main tenet of toxicology is the ‘dose-response’ relationship” and “most chemically induced adverse health effects clearly demonstrate ‘thresholds,’ there must be reasonable evidence that the exposure was of sufficient magnitude to exceed the threshold before a likelihood of ‘causation’ can be inferred.” David L. Eaton, *Scientific Judgment and Toxic Torts-A Primer in Toxicology for Judges and Lawyers*, 12 J.L. & POL’Y 5, 39 (2003). More specifically, in mesothelioma cases:

To prove that a given injury was “caused by exposure to a specified substance,” a plaintiff must demonstrate “the levels of exposure that are hazardous to human beings generally,” and “the plaintiff’s actual level of exposure.” [*Westberry v. Gislaved Gummi AB*, 178 F.3d 257, 263 (4th Cir. 1999)] (quotations omitted). Moreover, there must be a showing that the plaintiff’s level of exposure is comparable to the levels of exposure that are hazardous as a general matter. *See id.* (“[S]cientific knowledge of the harmful level of exposure to a chemical, plus knowledge that the plaintiff was exposed to *such quantities*, are minimal facts necessary to sustain the plaintiffs’ burden in a toxic tort case.”) (emphasis added) (quoting *Allen v. Pa. Eng’g Corp.*, 102 F.3d 194, 199 (5th Cir. 1996)); *see also Zellars v. NexTech Northeast, LLC*, 895 F. Supp. 2d 734, 742 (E.D. Va. 2012) (“‘Ruling in’ exposure to a particular substance as a possible cause of a patient’s medical condition requires (1) a reliable determination of the level of exposure necessary to cause the condition and (2) a reliable determination that the patient was exposed to the substance at this level.”).

Yates v. Ford Motor Co., 113 F. Supp. 3d 841, 850 (E.D.N.C. 2015).

As will be detailed below, at trial Plaintiff employed the “each and every exposure” or “cumulative dose” theory of causation—a theory

rejected by most court that have addressed it. As the court in *Yates* explained:

The theory that “each and every exposure to asbestos products results in injury to the person so exposed” has made repeat appearances in the realm of asbestos litigation. *Krik v. Crane Co.*, 76 F. Supp. 3d 747, 749-50 (N.D. Ill. 2014); see William L. Anderson, “The ‘Any Exposure’ Theory Round II-Court Review of Minimal Exposure Expert Testimony in Asbestos and Toxic Tort Litigation Since 2008,” 22 KAN. J.L. & Pus. PoLY 1 (2012). Also referred to as “any exposure” theory, or “single fiber” theory, it represents the viewpoint that, because science has failed to establish that any specific dosage of asbestos causes injury, every exposure to asbestos should be considered a cause of injury. See *Krik*, 76 F. Supp. 3d at 749-50; *Anderson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 950 F. Supp. 2d 1217, 1225 (D. Utah 2013). Numerous courts have excluded expert testimony or evidence grounded in this theory, reasoning that it lacks sufficient support in facts and data. *E.g.*, *Comardelle v. Pa. Gen. Ins. Co.*, 76 F. Supp. 3d 628, 632-33 (E.D. La. 2015); *Krik*, 76 F. Supp. 3d at 752-53, *Anderson*, 950 F. Supp. 2d at 1225; *Sclafani v. Air & Liquid Sys. Corp.*, No. 2:12-CV-3013, 2013 WL 2477077, at *5 (C.D. Cal. May 9, 2013); *Henricksen v. ConocoPhillips Co.*, 605 F. Supp. 2d 1142, 1166 (E.D. Wash. 2009).

Yates, 113 F. Supp. 3d at 846.

Courts reject the “every exposure” or “cumulative dose” theory (by whatever name) because it is irreconcilable with the “substantial factor” causation rule long used in South Carolina and almost all other jurisdictions. See *Schwartz v. Honeywell Int’l Inc.*, No. 2016-1372, 2018 WL 793606, at *3 (Ohio Jan. 24, 2018) (finding it “impossible” to reconcile a requirement of “an individualized finding of substantial causation

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