THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000649

RECEIVED
FEB 10 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Stephen R. Edwards, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Steven Redfean
Stewart,..... Respondent,

v.

Scapa Waycross, Inc.,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854
BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC
P.O. Box 897
Hampton, SC 29924
803-943-4529

William M. Graham
Mona Lisa Wallace
WALLACE & GRAHAM, P.A.
525 North Main St.
Salisbury, NC 28144
704-633-5244

Gregory Hyland
Thomas H. Hart, III
HART, HYLAND, SHEPHERD, LLC

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

ARGUMENT

The facts outlined above demonstrate that Mr. Stewart presented a preponderance of evidence of his exposure to Scapa dryer felts and that such exposure substantially contributed to his mesothelioma and death. As explained below, Mr. Stewart presented ample lay and expert testimony of specific causation to satisfy the requirement to show the frequency, regularity, and proximity of his exposure to Scapa's asbestos-containing dryer felts. Scapa presented evidence of exposure to other asbestos products and attempted to refute that its asbestos could have caused mesothelioma. The jury simply rejected the empty chair defense and found that Scapa dryer felts substantially contributed to Mr. Stewart's mesothelioma.

The lower court properly exercised its discretion to grant *additur* for survival damages given the uncontroverted testimony of Mr. Stewart's intense mental and physical pain and suffering from mesothelioma. It also properly denied Scapa's motion to reallocate the settlement

proceeds given the undeniable evidence of wrongful death and survival damages and the amount of Mr. Stewart's full recovery. Finally, the lower court correctly excluded bankruptcy claims forms as improper evidence of claims with settling tortfeasors and in light of the extensive empty chair defense the court permitted Scapa to present. In sum, the lower court's decisions are fully supported by the law and the record, and the jury simply believed and found that Scapa's dryer felts substantially contributed to Mr. Stewart's mesothelioma.

I. SCAPA'S JNOV ISSUES AS TO THE "CUMULATIVE EXPOSURE" THEORY AND EXPERT TESTIMONY ARE NOT PRESERVED

Scapa did not make any arguments in its directed verdict motion about the "cumulative exposure" theory or the reliability of Mr. Stewart's experts' opinions. (R. pp. 1479-96, 2256-57). Scapa did not argue that any expert lacked a sufficient factual predicate for his causation testimony. (Br. of App. pp. 18-20). An "issue [] not raised as a ground for a directed verdict during the liability stage of the trial and is not preserved for this Court's review." *Jamison v. Morris*, 385 S.C. 215, 226, 684 S.E.2d 168, 173 (2009). In its directed verdict motion, Scapa argued only that the substance of the admitted testimony did not satisfy the specific causation standard. (R. pp. 1479-85). Scapa filed a motion *in limine* as to portions of only Dr. Brody and Dr. Frank's testimony. (R. pp. 122-24). The lower court ruled "I am not going to take the position that experts who testify about every exposure and cumulative effect are going to be stricken from being able to testify." (R. p. 348). Scapa then failed to make an objection to expert testimony at trial. "[M]aking a motion *in limine* to exclude evidence at the beginning of trial does not preserve an issue for review because a motion *in limine* is not a final determination. The moving party, therefore, must make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is introduced." *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (internal quotation marks omitted). Scapa's failure to make any

objection or a contemporaneous objection to the testimony it now challenges on appeal makes the issues unpreserved.

Finally, it is unclear what specific expert(s) and testimony Scapa challenges. Its argument section 1.A. on the cumulative exposure theory does not cite to a single page of trial testimony or mention an expert. (Br. of App. pp. 9-13). Scapa's argument section 1.B. addressing the evidence of specific causation references the testimony of Dr. Frank, Dr. Brody, and Mr. DePasquale but does not ask the Court to exclude any specific testimony. (Br. of App. pp. 13-17). There is no challenge as to the qualifications of the experts to testify. Scapa appears to challenge the substance of some of their testimony but does not specify to this Court, and did not specify to the lower court, what it seeks to exclude or on what basis it seeks exclusion. It cites to the expert reliability factors (Br. of App. p. 10), but does not articulate how any expert's opinion was unreliable except to disagree with the cumulative exposure theory which, as explained below, is a scientific principle and not a causation theory Mr. Stewart used at trial.

As a last-ditch effort, Scapa argues "Plaintiff's experts' opinions" are inadmissible under Rule 403, SCRE, again based on the cumulative exposure argument. (Br. of App. pp. 23-24). Scapa never made this argument at any phase of the lower court proceedings. It also does not specify which "experts" or which portions of testimony it is referring to for this argument. There is no mention of Rule 403 in Scapa's motion for a directed verdict or JNOV motion. (R. pp. 1479-88, 173, 184-92). There is no Rule 403 ruling in the lower court's order, and Scapa did not file a motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 8-24).

The Court should find all of these issues are unpreserved.

II. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY DENIED SCAPA'S MOTION FOR JNOV

The lower court correctly denied Scapa's motion for JNOV because Mr. Stewart presented ample expert and lay witness testimony and evidence that, viewed in a light most favorable to him, supports a reasonable inference of substantial causation and constitutes evidence of exposure to Scapa's asbestos-containing dryer felts on a regular basis over an extended period of time in proximity to where Mr. Stewart actually worked.

"When reviewing the trial court's ruling on a motion for a directed verdict or a JNOV, this Court must apply the same standard as the trial court by viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *RFT Mgmt. Co., L.L.C. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*, 399 S.C. 322, 331-32, 732 S.E.2d 166, 171 (2012). "In considering a JNOV, the trial judge is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight. When considering a JNOV, neither an appellate court, nor the trial court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or the evidence." *Curcio v. Caterpillar, Inc.*, 355 S.C. 316, 320, 585 S.E.2d 272, 274 (2003) (internal quotation and alteration marks omitted). "The trial court must deny a motion for a directed verdict or JNOV if the evidence yields more than one reasonable inference or its inference is in doubt. Moreover, a motion for JNOV may be granted only if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict." *RFT Mgmt. Co.*, 399 S.C. at 332, 732 S.E.2d at 171 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Scapa misstates the law as well as Mr. Stewart's theory and proof of specific causation. The admissible evidence presented, including the opinions of Mr. Stewart's experts, satisfy the required proof for specific causation in South Carolina.

A. The Lower Court Correctly Admitted Cumulative Exposure Testimony

Assuming the Court finds this issue preserved, the lower court correctly admitted Mr. Stewart's experts' testimony as to specific causation.³ When determining whether exposure to asbestos is actionable, South Carolina uses the "frequency, regularity, and proximity test." *Henderson v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 179, 185, 644 S.E.2d 724, 727 (2007) (quoting *Lohrmann v. Pittsburgh Corning Corp.*, 782 F.2d 1156, 1162 (4th Cir. 1986)). "To support a reasonable inference of substantial causation from circumstantial evidence, there must be evidence of exposure to a specific product on a regular basis over some extended period of time in proximity to where the plaintiff actually worked." *Henderson*, 373 S.C. at 185, 644 S.E.2d at 727 (internal quotation marks omitted). Mr. Stewart's case theory and evidence presented are fully compliant with *Henderson*. The lower court held "Plaintiff's experts testified that mesothelioma can be caused by brief or low-level cumulative exposures. They should be permitted to rely on this basic medical fact in reaching their opinion []. That does not mean that they concluded that 'each and every exposure' that Mr. Stewart had was a substantial factor in causing his disease." (R. p. 19). After citing to other reported decisions admitting similar opinions, the lower court explained "it is not proper to evaluate the experts' medical opinions with reference to only one narrow part of the basis for the opinion." (R. p. 20). This Court should affirm.

It is not scientifically possible to point to a particular asbestos exposure as the sole cause of an asbestos-related disease because the numerous fibers ingested on each inhalation go to

³ As noted above, there is no preserved issue as to the admissibility of any expert testimony. Scapa does not even include in its brief a standard of review as to the admissibility of expert testimony. "The qualification of an expert witness and the admissibility of an expert's testimony are matters within the trial court's discretion and will not be overturned absent a finding of abuse of that discretion." *Holmes v. Haynsworth, Sinkler & Boyd, P.A.*, 408 S.C. 620, 635, 760 S.E.2d 399, 407 (2014). The lower court did not abuse its discretion but made a decision based on the applicable law and the substance of the experts' opinions in this case. Further, Scapa vigorously cross-examined Dr. Frank about cumulative exposure. (R. pp. 2318-20).

various places in the body and have differing physical effects. (R. pp. 2255-56). Scientists and doctors do not know how many asbestos fibers it takes to cause mesothelioma. (R. p. 2256). For these reasons, doctors describe the cause of mesothelioma as “the cumulative exposure that someone had from any and all [asbestos-containing] products.” *Id.* Mesothelioma is a dose response illness, meaning that, as the dose of or exposure to asbestos goes up, the likelihood of a biological response such as getting a disease goes up.⁴ (R. pp. 2254-55).

Scapa’s argument on this issue is essentially that a plaintiff cannot rely on the theory that each and every or the cumulative exposure to asbestos is a substantial contributing cause to prove specific causation but must present proof of a level of exposure to the defendant’s asbestos product and that such exposure is a substantial contributing cause. (Br. of App. pp. 9-13). Mr. Stewart agreed to this premise during a pre-trial hearing. “The experts will say that each and every exposure above background, an occupational exposure, Your Honor, contributes. They don’t say each and every is a substantial contributing cause. . . . I still need to prove it was an occupational exposure, it was substantial, and the exposures from specific Scapa asbestos-containing dryer felts were indeed a substantial factor in the causation of the mesothelioma.” (R. pp. 345-46). Scapa’s appellate argument is misplaced because Mr. Stewart did not rely on an each-and-every or cumulative exposure theory at trial, he relied on the *Henderson* specific causation standard proven by evidence of frequency, regularity, and proximity to Scapa’s product. Mr. Stewart’s expert testimony as to “cumulative exposure” is admissible and, along with other testimony, satisfies *Henderson*.

⁴ Mr. Stewart’s experts testified that mesothelioma is a dose response illness. *See* Dr. Brody at R. pp. 653-54; Dr. Millette at R. p. 758; and Dr. Harpole at R. p. 986.

The cumulative exposure testimony is a general scientific principle that all exposures to asbestos contribute to a person's total dose. It is offered as part of the scientific explanation for how asbestos exposure causes mesothelioma. It is not offered for the purpose of establishing specific causation and is not the causation theory Mr. Stewart used in this case. The ultimate specific causation opinions of Mr. Stewart's experts are that, based on the evidence in this case, the amount of Mr. Stewart's exposure to Scapa asbestos-containing dryer felts substantially contributed to his mesothelioma. *See* R. p. 20 ("The specific causation opinions of Drs. Frank and Brody were firmly grounded in the exposure evidence presented at trial."). Stated another way, an expert may testify to the scientific principle that "every exposure increases the risk of mesothelioma" while also giving an opinion on specific causation that is based on the plaintiff's exposure "attributable to a specific product." *Dugger v. Union Carbide Corp.*, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 171168, *36 (D. Md. Sept. 30, 2019). In *Dugger*, the defendant sought to exclude Dr. Frank's opinion as an impermissible each-and-every or cumulative exposure theory. *Id.* at * 34. The court disagreed,

Dr. Frank has considered the frequency, regularity, and proximity of [plaintiff]'s exposure to asbestos as a result of his use of Bendix brakes in order to come to his conclusion regarding causation. While a few of Dr. Frank's statements may recall the each and every exposure theory, the other parts of his reports that provide context to those statements show that Dr. Frank considered the specifics of [plaintiff]'s exposure to Bendix brakes when coming to his conclusion.

Id. at *37 (internal quotation marks omitted). The same is true in this case. Mr. Stewart's experts considered the frequency, regularity, and proximity of Mr. Stewart's exposure to Scapa asbestos-containing dryer felts to come to their specific causation opinions.

Dr. Frank's description of the cause of mesothelioma as "the cumulative exposure that someone had from any and all products" is simply another way of saying the dose response principle that "as the amount accumulates in somebody's body and goes up and up and up, you're

more likely to get disease.” (R. p. 2256). Dr. Frank does *not* “believe that each and every is the same as cumulative [exposure].” (R. p. 2321 lns. 2-4). Rather, his opinion is that, while mesothelioma is not attributable to background asbestos exposure alone, in a case with additional exposure, the background level contributes to the cumulative exposure. (R. p. 2321). Dr. Frank “would *not* agree with” the statement that any exposure, regardless of dosage, is sufficient to cause asbestos-induced cancer. (R. p. 2330 lns. 1-5) (emphasis added).

The specific causation standard is qualitative, not quantitative as Scapa suggests. Quantification of an exact dose is not required. *Lohrmann* describes the frequency, regularity, and proximity standard as “a *de minimis* rule since a plaintiff must prove more than a casual or minimum contact with the product.” 782 F.2d at 1162. Several of Mr. Stewart’s experts provided specific causation testimony. Dr. Frank considered co-worker testimony about a cloud of felt dust in his opinion of the extent and amount of Mr. Stewart’s exposure to Scapa asbestos-containing dryer felts. “[D]ryer felts had . . . 30 to maybe 70 percent asbestos, and if you had enough dust for the air to get cloudy, you’re dealing with a lot of asbestos.” (R. p. 2264). Dryer felt testing showed asbestos fibers release “from single to low double digits in terms of fibers per cc.” (R. p. 2281). Dr. Millette’s compressed air test released over 30 asbestos fibers per cc. (R. p. 777). Dr. Frank testified that 0.1 to 15 fibers per cc of release when compressed air is blown across a felt in someone’s direction is a significant exposure that would significantly contribute to mesothelioma. (R. pp. 2332-34). Even one year’s exposure to .1 fibers per cc, the legally allowable limit, makes a person four times more likely to get an asbestos-related disease. (R. pp. 2307-08). Mr. DePasquale testified the facts of this case, specifically including the number of Scapa dryer felts used during Mr. Stewart’s employment and his work with dryer felts, show a significant occupational exposure to Scapa dryer felt asbestos that puts an individual at a great risk of

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